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Edwin Hart

To:
Frank da Cruz

From:
Unicode Technical Committee

Subject:
Response to your three proposals to encode characters for terminal emulation.

Thank you for your three proposals for encoding terminal-emulation characters in Unicode.  The proposals were well organized, thorough, and well researched.

Results

The UTC acknowledges the concerns raised in your three documents.  The UTC had extended discussions on these documents at its December, 1998 meeting in San José.  Here is the result of these discussions for each paper.

1. Document L2/98-353, “Additional Control Pictures for Unicode”

Status:  rejected

However, the UTC noted that a bell glyph may have value in other contexts and so could be encoded for another purpose in the future.

The UTC believes that the proposed glyphs would be used as an alternate way to display control characters rather than to interchange information; e.g., to document control sequences.  The UTC decided not to encode these glyphs in Unicode.

As a secondary concern, encoding glyphs for control characters is an open-ended proposition.  The UTC knows that multiple sets of control characters are defined for the C1 control area.  For example, ISO had two standards defining control characters, ISO/IEC 6429 and ISO 6630.  When someone proposes a new set of C1 control characters, should they also be considered for encoding?  What should be encoded?  Should exactly one glyph be encoded per control-character code position or should multiple glyphs be encoded for the same control-character code position?  These are examples of concerns underlying the UTC decision rather than a request for you to answer the questions.

2. Document L2/98-354, “Terminal Graphics for Unicode”

Status: deferred for additional information

The UTC has requested more information before it makes a decision.

Table 5.1, range of E080 to E087.  The UTC has requested an official position from IBM and feedback from SHARE on the glyphs used in the status area of a 3270 display.

Table 5.2, range of E0A0 to E0AD.  The UTC has requested that Microsoft provide a list of the full set of glyphs used to construct mathematical entities (brackets, braces, sigma, etc.).  Previously, the UTC had decided not to encode these as characters.  However, once this information is available, the UTC will revisit the issue.

In addition, the UTC would appreciate your response to the following:

a. What is the full set of terminal-emulation glyphs that you considered and how did you map those not in your proposal into Unicode?  The UTC’s concern is for round-trip integrity and distinguishing different characters so that the UTC avoids mapping the characters in you proposal to the same Unicode characters you used already for other glyphs in your full set.  (The concern is not the characters from standard coded character sets like 7-bit ASCII and the ISO/IEC 8859 series, but rather the set of symbols outside of these sets.)

b. Which of the following proposed characters could be unified with (mapped into) Unicode characters?

1) Can you provide (a) the source glyphs for the proposed E0AC and E0AD sigma/summation parts, and also (b) better glyphs for them.

2) What is the purpose of the proposed E0AE and E0AF characters?  Are they supposed to be full corners for a box, or partial corners, or to provide the top and bottom corners of right brackets, or to provide serifs for the sigma (E0AC and E0AD)?  Could the proposed E0AE and E0AF characters be unified with 231D top right corner and 231F bottom right corner?

3) For the proposed E0B0, could it be unified with either 2713 check mark or 221A radical?  Is “small” the distinguishing characteristic for not unifying it with 2713 or 221A?

4) For the proposed E0B1, should it be unified with either 237B not check mark or 2415 symbol for negative acknowledge?

5) What is the purpose of the proposed E0D0 and E0D1 characters?  Are they to be used to construct extended brackets and braces with the E0A0 to E0AB “extensible” characters?  If so, then they should be moved to the mathematical symbol area of your proposal.  If not, please explain how they might be used.

6) Could the proposed E0D2 to E0D5 triangle characters be unified with the 25E2 to 25E5 black triangle characters?

7) Could the proposed E0E5 diamond be unified with 25C6 black diamond?

8) Could the proposed E0EC be unified with 21E5 rightward arrow to bar?

9) Could the proposed E0ED be unified with 21E4 leftward arrow to bar?

3. Document L2/98-355, “Hex Byte Pictures for Unicode”

Status:  rejected

The UTC considers that these are glyphs and, as such, they are out of the scope of the Unicode standard.  Representing hex bytes visibly is a font-rendering issue rather than an information interchange issue.

Suggestions

Here are some suggestions for you to consider to help you meet your requirements.

1. Code the glyphs in the Private Use Area.  If at some time in the future, the terminal emulation vendors are using the assignments, then you may resubmit your proposal (except for the pictures for hex bytes) to Unicode with this additional justification.  It is beyond the scope of the UTC to encode characters in the Private Use Area or to endorse any particular use of characters in the Private Use Area.  If the terminal emulation community believes that consistent use of private-use code positions is desirable, you might consider registering your code assignments in a registry for the Private Use Area such as the Conscript Registry.  Note that Unicode does not endorse any registry for the Private Use Area.  Both Adobe and Apple have described how each uses the Private Use Area.  You may want to contact these organizations for additional information.

2. Register the glyphs with AFII (Association for Font Information Interchange).  AFII is the registration authority for the ISO/IEC 10036 glyph registry.  AFII charges a nominal fee for registering glyphs.  If you are interested in pursuing this, contact AFII (afii@unicode.org) for more information.
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